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Re.:  OCR Docket # 06141588 

 

 

XXX  XXXX, Superintendent 

Water Valley School District 

544 Market St.  

Water Valley, MS 38965 

 

 

Dear XXX  XXXX: 

 

This letter is to inform you of the determinations made by the U.S. Department of Education, 

Office for Civil Rights (OCR), based on its investigation of the above-referenced complaint filed 

against the Water Valley School District (WVSD or District), Water Valley, MS.  The 

complainant alleged that in August 2014, WVSD discriminated against her son (the Student) on 

the basis of sex (male) when it failed:  to provide her with its Title IX Coordinator’s contact 

information in order to file a sexual harassment complaint (Allegation 1); and to respond 

promptly and equitably to her complaint that a football teammate (Student 2) sexually harassed 

the Student (i.e., when Student 2 physically “humped” the Student in a sexual manner, as if he 

was having sex with the Student) (Allegation 2).   

 

OCR is responsible for enforcing Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), 20 

U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq., and its implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. Part 106, which prohibit 

discrimination on the basis of sex by any education program or activity receiving Federal 

financial assistance.  WVSD is a recipient of Federal financial assistance from the Department.  

Therefore, OCR has jurisdictional authority to process this complaint for resolution under Title 

IX.   

 

OCR investigated whether WVSD discriminated against the Student on the basis of sex by 

failing to respond promptly and equitably to sexually harassing conduct by Student 2 (i.e., 

humping the Student), which was sufficient to constitute a hostile environment, of which it had 

or should have had notice in August of 2014, including by failing to provide the complainant 

with the Title IX Coordinator’s contact information for her to file a complaint, in violation of 

Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. §§ 106.8, 106.9 and 106.31.  

A finding that a recipient has violated one of the laws that OCR enforces must be supported by a 

preponderance of the evidence (i.e., sufficient evidence to prove that it is more likely than not 

that unlawful discrimination or retaliation occurred).  When there is a significant conflict in the 

evidence and OCR is unable to resolve that conflict, for example, due to the lack of 
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corroborating witness statements or additional evidence, OCR generally must conclude that there 

is insufficient evidence to establish a violation of the law.   

 

With regard to the issues investigated, OCR received and reviewed data provided by the 

complainant and the WVSD, including: notes from meetings between WVSD staff and the 

complainant; written statements from WVSD staff; WVSD policies and procedures; and selected 

WVSD student and staff records.  OCR also conducted interviews with the complainant, the 

Student, and relevant WVSD staff.  OCR’s determinations regarding the issue investigated may 

be found below.  

 

Legal Standard 

 

The regulation implementing Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. § 106.31, provides generally that, except as 

provided elsewhere in the regulation, “. . . no person shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from 

participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any . . . 

education program or activity” operated by recipients of Federal financial assistance.  The Title IX 

implementing regulation, at 34 C.F.R. §§ 106.8 and 106.9, also requires a recipient to designate a 

Title IX Coordinator, adopt grievance procedures, and implement specific and continuing steps to 

provide notice that it does not discriminate on the basis of sex in its education programs or 

activities.   

 

Sexual harassment that creates a hostile environment is a form of sex discrimination prohibited by 

Title IX.  Sexual harassment is unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature, which may include 

unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal, nonverbal or physical 

conduct of a sexual nature.  Sexual harassment creates a hostile environment if the conduct by an 

employee, another student, or a third party is so severe, persistent or pervasive that it denies or 

limits a student’s ability to participate in or benefit from the recipient’s program.  To investigate or 

otherwise resolve issues of sexual harassment, OCR considers whether: (1) the recipient has a 

disseminated policy prohibiting sex discrimination under Title IX and effective grievance 

procedures; (2) the recipient appropriately investigated or otherwise responded to allegations of 

sexual harassment; and (3) the recipient has taken immediate and effective corrective action 

responsive to any harassment that the investigation determined took place, including effective 

actions to end the harassment, prevent its recurrence, and, as appropriate, remedy its effects. 

 

Findings of Fact and Analysis 

  

OCR began its analysis by scrutinizing the District’s Title IX policies and procedures published 

in both its 2014-15 and 2017-18 (current) Parent/Student Handbooks (Handbooks).  

 

Designation and Notice of Title IX Coordinator  

In accordance with the Title IX regulation at 34 C.F.R. §106.8(a), recipients must designate at 

least one employee to coordinate its efforts to comply with and carry out its responsibilities 

under the regulation, including complaint investigations alleging its noncompliance with Title 

IX, and notify all of its students and employees of the name, office address, and telephone 

number of the employee or employees designated.  
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First, OCR examined whether WVSD designated at least one employee to coordinate its efforts 

to comply with and carry out its responsibilities under Title IX; and notified all WVSD students 

and employees of the name, office address, and telephone number of the employee or employees 

designated as their Title IX Coordinator(s).  OCR determined that neither the 2014-15 or 2017-

18 Handbook properly identified the individual designated to receive complaints as the Title IX 

Coordinator, nor does either Handbook contain the Title IX Coordinator’s office address and 

telephone number.  Notably, the 2014-15 Handbook referred persons seeking to file a complaint 

to an individual that was no longer employed by the District when OCR began its investigation, 

which the District acknowledged as erroneous.  Moreover, during OCR’s interviews with various 

District personnel, they indicated that they were not aware of the Title IX Coordinator’s role and 

responsibilities, and were unable to articulate how the Title IX grievance procedures would be 

applied to the complainant’s concern about the Student allegedly being sexually harassed, or any 

other concerns of a similar nature.  Accordingly, OCR found that the District failed to properly 

designate a Title IX Coordinator and notify employees and students of the identity and contact 

information for a Title IX Coordinator.    

 

Notification of Title IX Nondiscrimination Policy 

Title IX at 34 C.F.R. § 106.9(a), requires that a recipient implement specific and continuing steps 

to notify applicants for employment, students, employees, and all unions or professional 

organizations holding collective bargaining or professional agreements with the recipient that it 

does not discriminate on the basis of sex in the education programs or activities it operates; that 

the prohibition against discrimination extends to employment and admission; and that inquiries 

to recipients concerning the application of Title IX and its implementing regulation may be 

referred to the Title IX Coordinator or to OCR. Title IX, at 34 C.F.R. § 106.9(b), further requires 

recipients to include the notice of nondiscrimination in each announcement, bulletin, catalog, or 

application form that it makes available to the persons described above, or which is otherwise 

used in the recruitment of students or employees. 

 

OCR next reviewed the Handbooks to determine whether the District disseminated a notice of 

nondiscrimination.  OCR identified nondiscrimination notices in both Handbooks which mirror 

each other, stating as follows:  “The [WVSD] will not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 

national origin, sex, disability, religion, or age in the admission to and provision of educational 

programs, activities, and services or employment opportunities, and benefits.”  Each Handbook 

also contains sexual discrimination/harassment policies that prohibit discrimination on the basis 

of sex, and direct individuals wishing to file a complaint to the Title IX Coordinator (without 

specifying the identity of, or contact information for, the Title IX Coordinator).  Neither 

Handbook alternatively directs individuals to the Assistant Secretary, either.  Therefore, OCR 

found a compliance concern with the District’s notice of nondiscrimination.   

 

Adoption and Publication of Title IX Grievance Procedures 

Title IX at 34 C.F.R. §106.8(b) requires recipients to also adopt and publish grievance 

procedures providing for the prompt and equitable resolution of complaints alleging any action 

prohibited by Title IX.  In evaluating whether a recipient’s grievance procedures are prompt and 

equitable, OCR considers whether the recipient:  (i) provides notice of its grievance procedures, 

including how to file a complaint, to students, parents of elementary and secondary school 

students, and employees; (ii) applies the grievance procedures to complaints filed by students or 
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on their behalf alleging sexual misconduct carried out by employees, other students, or third 

parties; (iii) ensures and adequate, reliable, and impartial investigation of complaints, including 

the opportunity to present witnesses and other evidence; (iv) designates and follows a reasonably 

prompt timeframe for major stages of the complaint process; (v) notifies the parties of the 

outcome of the complaint; and (vi) provides assurance that the school will take steps to prevent 

recurrence of any harassment and to correct its discriminatory effects on the complainant and 

others, if appropriate. 

OCR’s review of the Handbooks for both the 2014-15 and 2017-18 school years also revealed 

that the District adopted and published grievance procedures for the resolution of discrimination 

complaints; the 2014-15 Handbook contained only general grievance procedures.  OCR found 

that the District’s 2014-15 general discrimination procedures:  provided for the adequate, 

reliable, and impartial investigation of complaints, including the opportunity to present witnesses 

and other evidence; contained designated and reasonably prompt timeframes for the major stages 

of the complaint process; and required notice to the parties of the outcome of the complaint.  

However, OCR determined that the grievance procedures failed to:  provide notice to students, 

parents of elementary and secondary students, and employees of the procedure, including where 

complaints may be filed; clearly state their application to complaints alleging harassment carried 

out by third parties; and include an assurance that the school will take steps to prevent recurrence 

of any harassment and to correct its discriminatory effects on the complainant and others, if 

appropriate.  

Regarding the District’s 2017-18 policies and procedures, OCR determined that the 2017-18 

Handbook contains both general and sexual harassment grievance procedures.  Although the 

stated purpose of the general grievance procedures is to provide employees, students, and parents 

a process for filing a discrimination complaint, the sexual harassment grievance procedures only 

set forth a specific procedure for student-to-student complaints; the procedures do not articulate 

how to file a complaint of sexual harassment against an employee or third party.  Accordingly, 

the policies are confusing insomuch as the District does not explicitly state which policy an 

aggrieved party should use, or which procedure would be utilized, when a student or employee 

alleges a Title IX violation that does not specifically involve student-to-student sexual 

harassment.  Moreover, OCR’s interviews with various District personnel showed that they were 

also unable to articulate how the Title IX grievance procedures would be applied to the 

complainant’s concern about the Student allegedly being sexually harassed, or any other 

concerns of a similar nature.   Finally, OCR further determined that the District’s 2017-18 

general discrimination and sexual harassment policies and procedures taken together still fail to:  

provide notice to students, parents of elementary and secondary students, and employees of the 

procedure, including where complaints may be filed; clearly state their application to complaints 

alleging harassment carried out by third parties; and include an assurance that the school will 

take steps to prevent recurrence of any harassment and to correct its discriminatory effects on the 

complainant and others, if appropriate.  Consequently, OCR found a compliance concern with 

the District’s Title IX grievance procedures.    

 

Based on the foregoing, OCR determined that the District failed to properly designate a Title IX 

Coordinator in violation of the Title IX regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 106.8.  OCR also found 

compliance concerns with regard to the District’s notice of nondiscrimination and Title IX 

policies and procedures.  Accordingly, on X date, OCR obtained a signed resolution agreement 
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(Agreement) from the District to resolve its noncompliance with Title IX regarding notice of a 

Title IX Coordinator, as well as the compliance concerns OCR identified with regard to its notice 

of nondiscrimination and grievance procedures.  

 

District’s Response to Complainant’s Complaint 

Consistent with its duty to ensure the non-discriminatory treatment of students as required by 

Title IX, at 34 C.F.R §106.31, upon notice of an allegation of sexual harassment, the recipient 

must appropriately investigate or otherwise respond to the allegations and take immediate and 

effective corrective action responsive to the harassment, including effective actions to end the 

harassment, prevent its recurrence, and, as appropriate, remedy its effects.  When sexual 

harassment is so severe, persistent, or pervasive as to deny or limit a student’s ability to 

participate in, or benefit from, the recipient’s programs or activities, a hostile environment exists 

and the recipient must respond.  

 

OCR determined that, at the time of the alleged sexual harassment, the Student was a 15 year-old 

ninth grader at Water Valley High School (the School) and played on the football team.  The 

complainant alleged that Student 2, a then 16 year-old eleventh grader who also attended the 

School and was on the football team, “humped” the Student during football practice on or about 

August 19, 2014.  The complainant alleged that she thereafter sought the Title IX Coordinator’s 

contact information from the School, but no one provided it to her; she asserts that she then 

reported the alleged incident to the Principal and the Head Coach of the football team (Coach), 

who failed to respond to her complaint.   

 

Allegation 1 

With respect to Allegation 1, the complainant alleged that in or around August 2014, WVSD 

discriminated against her son (the Student) on the basis of sex (male) when it failed to provide 

her with its Title IX Coordinator’s contact information in order to file a sexual harassment 

complaint on his behalf.  During its investigation, OCR interviewed District witnesses, who 

informed OCR that they did not deprive the complainant of such information, as the information 

was available in the Handbook, which was published on the District’s website at the time.  

Additionally, District employees stated to OCR that they did not fully comprehend the nature of 

the complainant’s request, because it was their understanding that the Student had been given 

proper playing equipment, uniforms, etc., during his participation on the Football team; 

apparently, District staff thought the complainant sought to make a Title IX athletics, not sexual 

harassment, complaint.  Regardless, even assuming the complainant’s allegation is true, she 

ultimately reported the alleged sexual harassment incident to the Principal and Coach of the 

football team on or about August 20, 2014.  As discussed further below, OCR determined that 

the District promptly took responsive action upon receipt of her complaint.  Accordingly, neither 

the complainant nor the Student was prejudiced by the misunderstanding.  Moreover, as 

discussed earlier, OCR found evidence of noncompliance with regard to the District’s 

designation and notice of its Title IX Coordinator, which will be resolved by the Agreement.    
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Allegation 2 

With regard to Allegation 2, the complainant alleged that WVSD discriminated against her son 

(the Student) on the basis of sex (male) when it failed to respond promptly and equitably to her 

complaint that Student 2 sexually harassed the Student in August of 2014, when Student 2 

physically “humped” the Student in a sexual manner, as if he was having sex with the Student.   

 

Based upon a review of the evidence provided by the District, including OCR interviews with 

District staff, OCR determined that upon receipt of the complainant’s complaint, in order to 

understand what happened, the Coach first talked to other football coaches who were present 

when the incident allegedly occurred.  Two of these other football coaches reported to OCR that 

Student 2 did not “hump” the Student; rather, they stated that Student 2 made a “pancake block,” 

i.e., a “good, clean block,” and that upon doing so, Student 2 fell to the ground with the Student, 

and then pushed himself up off the Student as he was getting up from the ground.  Therefore, 

later in August 2014, after conducting these preliminary inquiries, the District concluded that the 

Student was not subjected to a sexually hostile environment, and did not investigate further.  

However, OCR determined that the District did not notify the complainant of the outcome of her 

complaint.   

 

Accordingly, OCR found conflicting evidence as to whether Student 2 “humped” the Student.  

Nevertheless, even if true, the facts as stated by the complainant would not establish that the 

Student was subjected to a hostile environment, insomuch as the conduct alleged was not so 

severe, persistent, or pervasive as to deny or limit the Student’s ability to participate in, or 

benefit from, the recipient’s programs or activities.  After all, the complainant informed OCR 

that although she removed the Student from the football team following the alleged incident, he 

continued attending the School, and no further incidents occurred.  While the District did not 

inform the complainant of the outcome of her complaint, the Student was not harmed because he 

was not subjected to a hostile environment.  OCR also specifically addresses in the Agreement 

changes to the District’s grievance procedures and training regarding notice of the outcome to 

complainants.   

Therefore, OCR found insufficient evidence to corroborate the complainant’s allegation that the 

District failed to respond promptly and equitably to her complaint of sexual harassment, in 

violation of Title IX and its implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 106.31.  

 

Conclusion 

 

Based on the foregoing, OCR determined that the District failed to designate and provide 

sufficient notice for its Title IX Coordinator in violation of Title IX and its implementing 

regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 106.8. OCR also found compliance concerns regarding the District’s  

notice of nondiscrimination and its grievance procedures for the prompt and equitable resolution 

of sexual harassment complaints, in application of Title IX and its implementing regulation at 34 

C.F.R. §§106.8 and 106.9.  Finally, OCR found insufficient evidence to substantiate that the 

District failed to appropriately investigate the complainant’s report of sexual harassment, and to 

take immediate and effective corrective action responsive to the sexual harassment, including 

effective actions to end the harassment, prevent its recurrence, and remedy its effects, in 

violation of Title IX and its implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. §§ 106.8 and 106.31.   
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Consistent with OCR’s Case Processing Manual (CPM)1, the District submitted the enclosed 

Resolution Agreement (Agreement), dated X date, which is aligned with the allegations and 

issue investigated, consistent with Title IX. Under the Agreement, with OCR monitoring and 

approval, the District will take corrective actions to revise and publish its notices of the Title IX 

Coordinator and nondiscrimination, as well as its grievance procedures, and provide Title IX 

training to responsible District staff.  OCR has determined that the Agreement, when fully 

implemented, will satisfactorily resolve the District’s noncompliance with Title IX as identified, 

as well as the additional compliance concern OCR found during its investigation of the 

complaint.   

This letter should not be interpreted to address WVSD’s compliance with any other regulatory 

provision or to address any issues other than those addressed in this letter.  This letter sets forth 

OCR’s determination in an individual OCR case.  This letter is not a formal statement of OCR 

policy and should not be relied upon, cited, or construed as such.  OCR’s formal policy statements 

are approved by a duly authorized OCR official and made available to the public.  The 

complainant may have the right to file a private suit in Federal court whether or not OCR finds a 

violation.  

 

Please be advised that WVSD may not harass, coerce, intimidate, or discriminate against any 

individual because he or she has filed a complaint or participated in the complaint resolution 

process.  If this happens, that individual may file another complaint alleging such treatment.   

 

Under the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552, it may be necessary to release this 

document and related correspondence and records upon request.  In the event we receive such a 

request, we will seek to protect, to the extent provided by law, personally identifiable information 

which, if released, could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of privacy. 

 

OCR would like to thank your staff for the cooperation extended to our office in the efforts to 

resolve this complaint.  If you have any questions regarding this correspondence, please feel free to 

contact Terri Gonzales, Supervisory Attorney/Team Leader at (214) 661-9687 or 

terri.gonzales@ed.gov, or Tonya Gentry, Senior Attorney at (214) 661-9615 or 

tonya.gentry@ed.gov.   

 

 

Sincerely, 

        

 

      Taylor August, Regional Director 

      United States Department of Education 

Office for Civil Rights  

Region VI, Dallas Office  

 

Enclosure  
                                                            
1 OCR’s CPM is available on the OCR website: www.ed.gov/ocr.  
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